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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Fort Logan H. Roots is located on a high promontory fac-
ing due south overlooking the Arkansas River. From its
original inception it was intended as a regional military
training facility which accounts for the physical.layout
of the post. The focal point of the grounds is an eleven
acre quasi-elliptical parade and training field around
which the edifices of the post are located. True to mili-
tary custom there is a systematic location of quarters
with the officers' quarters located on the southwest rim -
of the ellipse, the senior enlisted men located on the
southeast rim, and the enlisted barracks situated on and

. due north of the centrally located parade field. Service
facilities such as the stables, firehouse, quartermaster's
building, shops, bakery and guardhouse are located north-
east of the rim along the principal agcendlng approach to
- the post. v ‘

The constLuctlon of the post was essentlally of two phases.
The original construction of 1896 included the aforemen-
tioned edifices. Subsequent additions in the years 1905-
1907 included two groups of enlisted barracks astride
the existing enlisted quarters. A bachelor officers!
- quarters adjacent to the original officers' quarters was
added as well as a post exchange and gym aside the en-
listed quarters. These phases of construction completed
the orderly development of the post prior to its redesig-
nation as a Veterans Bureau health: facility in 1921.
- Subsequent to that time approximately fifty additional
buildings have been constructed to support the hospital
facility, and their growth has been to the rear of and
along a northwest -axis from the enllsted quarters on. the
north rim of the parade grounds.

. The architectural character of the original and succeed-
ing buildings is in keeping with the military architecture
of the times. The edifices are utilitarian in construc-
tion, .and with few notable exceptlons they are devoid of
'ornamentatlon. t :

' Solid red brick masonry walls prevail throughout with
‘trussed slate roofs of gable or cross-gable configura-
"tion. Windows are slender, double hung with segmented
arches of brick and projecting cast stone sills.
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7. Description (Continued - Page 2) -

- Of special note is the original enlisted barracks build-
ing. It consists of a three story brick building with .
square plan and a high hipped slate roof with a center
gable on the front and rear elevations. ©Extending off
two sides of the central edifice are the elongated two
and one-half story barracks proper. Single chimneys are
located at each end and are noteworthy in appearance.

The chimney pierces the cornicej; however, it does not _
continue to the ground. The chimney side is divided into
five alternating panels and projecting reliefs Wthh ter-
minate at the second floor 11ne. '

The pediment is distinguished by a fascia which terminates
at each edge of the roof into a quasi-pendant of stone
resembling a barber's stand. The gable facade is given
relief by the use of recessed panels in the brickwork

which are flush with the face of the lower stories. A

two story porch is continuous along the entire front. The .
upper porch has been enclosed 51nce the orlglnal construc—
tlon. » : : :

The officers'quarters represent a slight departure from
the architecture of the post. Each edifice is a two and
one-half story duplex of red brick resting cn a rubblework
foundation which projects approximately four feet above
grade. A one story porch extends across one-fourth the
facade from each side. It terminates at the projecting
parlor rooms fronting the edifice. A later alteration
extended the porches across the entire facade.

The double hung windows with brick segmented arches and
cast stone sills are consistent with the prevailing motif;
however, the windews located in the pediments are note-
worthy. Two double hung windows with semicircular overhead
iights are separated by a brick mullion. Three course
brick, semicircular arches over each window intersect over’
the brick mullion. Each course projects further outward
than the lower course, thereby giving depth to the arch.
This architectural feature appears only in the officers'’
quarters.
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Briefly summarized the architecture of Fort Roots is ba-
sically plain and utilitarian in character. A consistent
motif lends unity to the original buildings. Overall order
to the plan is achieved through the systematic grouping of
the buildings about a centrally located parade field. Most
exterior alterations have been confined to the officers’
quarters in the forms of enclosure and extension of porches
and modlflcatlon of some window casements. -

Tt would indeed be difficult to deflne a 51ngle style of -
architecture for Fort Roots. Elements of Romanesque Re-
vival are evident in the officers'quarters, while elements
of the Greek Revival style predominate in several of the:

- larger structures. One of the best examples of the Greek
Revival style on' the post is exhibited in the portlco of
the post exchange and gymna51um.i ' . -

Perlodlc.malntenanoe has kept the original buildings-in
good condition and has contributed to the exceptional
preservation of the orlglnal physical appearance of Fort
Roots. S - :

" The boundarles of the area are deflned byLWe Drlve on
the west, Scenic Drive on the southwest,zMaln'C1rc1e Drive
on the south East Drive on the’ southeast Trunning to the
northeast and turning northwest'to Hill Road tﬁen turning .
southwest along Hill Road to 1ts*Junct:on w1th"F1rst Street.
The boundary continues north along : S/
beyond Building 15 (the old Powdé&r: Maga21ne)"\then turning
southwest until intercepting North. Drive. whloh defines the
north boundary of the Ft. Roots historic. dlstrlct

. GPO 921.724
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Established in 1893 as an ‘Army post, ‘historic Fort
Roots is situated on Big Rock Mountain on the - north
bank of the Arkansas River. This six hundred (6OO )
foot high promontory was so named to distinguish it
from the ILittle Rock, located just across the river.
Big Rock Mountain is topped by a plateau on which thlS
" 19th century military post was built.

In 1887 Big Rock Mountaln was acquired by the Mountaln'
' Park Cottage Site and Improvement Company. This Little
Rock land company built the Mountain Park Hotel, a
luxurious resort hotel which operated from 1888 until
1893. Several special features that were somewhat
unusual for the time were offered. These included
three parks with picnic area, pavilions for dancing

and refreshments and a fruit orchard and vineyards.

near the hotel, and to make the place an outstanding
resort. However, their ambitions for the Mountain Park’
‘were never realized, for in 1893 the property was sold
to the United States Government as the site for a per-

The history of Fort Roots began early in 1890 when
General John Schofield, of the War Department in’
-Washington, suggested that the Army close the hundreds
of small posts and arsenals in the United States and
establish a dozen major military posts situated near .
the railroads. This would facilitate quick deploy-
ment of troops to any point in the country.

In August, 1890, work came from Washington that the

~ Arsenal at Little Rock was to be closed not later
than October 1, 1890. Then began a series of meetings
by the City leaders to decide what should be done with

The company had plans to sell sites for summer cottages .

manent Army post. Military.structures replaced the hotel.
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thé property. During these meetings it was also decided
that Little Rock would ask that one of the twelve Army T
posts be established in the area. -

Arkansas' Senator James K. Jones and Congressman William
L. Terry started the movement in Washington. Congress

was asked to establish a military installation at Little
Rock on land provided by the city. In exchange the city
was to receive the old Arsenal grounds. On December 15,
1891, Senator Jones introduced a bill donating the grounds
to the city for a park. Congress also passed a bill to
establish a military post at Little Rock, provided the
city would furnish 1,000 acres of land w1th1n ten miles
of the city.

The Board of Improvement for City Park District was formed
to select a suitable site for the proposed fortress. Col-
onel Logan H. Roots served as chairman of the commission
with Judge Eben W. Kimbell as secretary. Several sites
were proposed by the Board of Improvement in the area
around Little Rock.

Major General Nelson A. Miles of the Commanding Department
of the Missouri was authorized to inspect the proposed
sites and select the one best suited for a military post.
In February, 1893, General Miles selected Big Rock Moun-
tain as the site of Fort Roots. The Big Rock site had
1,100 acres andincluded the plateau, providing a command- -
ing view of the city and surrounding countryside.

Deeds were recorded at Little Rock to transfer the Arsenal
property to the city, and Big Rock property to the Army.
These were filed by Maj. Steven W. Groesbeck, Judge

- Advocate of the Army, who arrived on March 18, 1893. Rights
were reserved for a public highway and a rallload along '
the foot of the bluff

In August, 1894, Congress appropriated $194,760 to con-
struct the military post at Big Rock. The appropriation
included $117,500 for construction; $6,460 for regular
supplied; and $70,800 for Lransportlng the Army to the
post. Congressman W. L. Terry notified Little Rock that

GPO 921.724 .
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the Quartermaster General had authorized the money to be
spent, and Captain R. R. Stevens was placed in charge of
the work. On August 23, he received orders to advertise
for bids on the work. - :

Plans for the mountain fortress included a hospital, quar-
termaster stable, storehouse, guardhouse, three double sets
of officers' quarters, a double barracks, two mess halls
and one double outbuilding. Frederick Kepler of Chicago
submitted the successful bid for construction on the build-
ings. He agreed to complete the job in twelve months for -
the sum of $107,746.00. On the morning of December 3y

- 1894, a 44-gun salute was fired from the highest p01nt of
Big Rock to signal the beginning of work on the new fort.
Thomas Lafferty stuck the first pick in the ground and 25
men. began work on the post road. Grading of the area be-
gan on December 10, and a full force of men were working

by the first of the new year. The Army was thus installed
on the prominence of Big Rock. :

By 1896 twenty buildings had been completed. These in-
cluded barracks, kitchens, mess halls,. lavatories, a guard
house, a bakery, a store house, stables, officers' quarters,
a hospital and a powder magazine. Most of these structures
were centered around a parade grounds of 11. 7 acres.

In April of 1897, an order from the War Department was

publlshed as follows- .
By direction of the Pre51dent of the United States,
the military 'post near the city of Little Rock, in
Pulaski County, Arkansas, will hereafter be‘known
and designated as Fort Logan H. Roots in honor of
the Late Brevet Lieutenant Colonel L. H. Roots,
United States Volunteers.

Logan Holt Roots was born on March 26, 1841, on an Illinois
farm. At 17 he entered Illinois State Normal University

as the youngest male student. After graduatlng as valedic-
torian in the class of 1862, he enlisted in the Union Army
and was ‘made an offlcer in the 8lst Regiment Illinois '
Volunteers.

i i
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“During his military career Colonel Roots participated in
the seige of Vicksburg and accompanied General William T.

. Sherman on his march through Georgia to the sea. As a
staff officer of General Sherman, he was present at the
Grand Review of the troops by the President in May, 1865.
The following August, Roots was commissioned Brevet
ILieutenant Colonel for his meritorius services during the
war. Colonel Roots was honorably mustered out of the
service on May 31, 1866. During his last year of military
service Colonel Roots was stationed in Arkansas. After
buying a cotton plantation, he remained in the State to
make 1t his home. :

In 1867 Colonel Roots was appointed Collector of Internal
Revenue for the First District of Arkansas. As a progres-
sive liberal Republican, he represented Arkansas in the
Fortieth Congress as its youngest member. During his two
terms in Congress he sponsored several bills of great _
‘importance and beneficience to his constituents. 1In later
years the Colonel served as Vice- Pre51dent of the Natlonal
League of Republican Clubs.

At the time of his death in 1893 Logan Roots was recognized
as the wealthiest man and leading financier in Arkansas.

His financial success was tied closely to the First National
Bank, of which he served as both president and director.

One contemporary source stated that "his ability and repu-
tation made this bank unexcelled and unquestionably the
leading bank of this section of the country." Colonel

Roots also served as the first: pre51dent of. the Arkansas
State Banker's Association. :

wWhen Little Rock sought to acquire a permanent military
post in the early 1890's the citizens turned to Colonel
Roots to represent their wishes in Washington. As Chair--
man of the Board of Improvement for City Park District,
Roots was instrumental in securing the Big Rock Mountain
site to house the proposed fort. According to the Arkansas
Gazette of May, 1893, '"to his influence with the powers
then in. belng at Washlngton in a great measure was due the
fact that Little Rock secured the Arsenal Park and the new
military post."

GPO 921.724
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Though Colonel Roots died on May 30, 1893, long before the
Big Rock .fortress became a realtlty , 1t was his efforts

that secured the site and future post. Four years after

his death his work in behalf of his adopted city was publicly
recognized when the Big Rock post was designated Fort Logan
H. Roots. : :

Construction of the fort proceeded according to schedule
until the outbreak of the Spanish-American War in 1898.
Operations were stopped when the regiment of troops occupying
the post were ordered to Puerto Rico. In the following
months the President called for 1,600 troops from Arkansas

to serve in the war against SpaLn. Many regiments arrived

at Fort Roots, received training in military maneuvers,

and were shipped on to other places of service.

‘The next period of intense activity for the Fort Roots
garrison came in February of 1912 when the base commander
. received notice to have his troops ready to move to the
Mexican border. Francisco ("Pancho") Villa, the Mexican
revolutionary leader, was causing international tensions
to mount. In March, 1914, four companies of the Ninth
Infantry departed for duty at Laredo, Texas. Two years
later 25 companies of the Arkansas National Guard were
mobilized. After spendinga month at Fort Roots this group
was ordered to Demlng, New Mexico.

In early 1917, the European war far overshadowed the trou-
bles on . the southern border. In April mobilization of the
first Arkansas Infantry was begun, and a few days later
orders were issued to establish an officers' training camp
at Fort Roots. After spending a 90-day training period at
the fort, graduates were commissioned as company officers
~for the 87th Army Division.

Men of the Second Arkansas Infantry were trained at the
fort, and were reorganized into the 142nd Field Artillery
in the autumn of 1917. Wnhile in training, the men dug
up quite.a supply of stones from the field. These stones
were used to construct a permanent monument in memory of
. the conversion of the Second Arkansas Infantry into the
142ndIﬁe1c1ArL111Lry. The monument still stands at Fort
Roots. :
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During the time Fort Roots was used as an officers'training
school, First Lieutenant George C. Marshall served at the
fort. This young officer later achieved the rank of Gen-
eral, served as Chief of Staff, and was Secretary of State.

Near the end of World War I Fort Roots was used an an »
"Army hospital. With the cessation of hostilities the need
for a military post was no longer justifiable; therefore,
the Army turned the grounds and buildings over. to the Public
Health Service for use as a hospital.

In October of 1921, the Fort Roots Military Post was re- = .
leased to the Veterans Bureau by the Public Health Service.
On December 1, 1921, the Veterans Bureau reopened .Fort.
Roots as a neuropsychlatrlc treatment center for veterans.
At that time the hospital center consisted of a group of
permanent type barracks buildings surroundlng a large
parade ground.’

During its 50 year history as a veterans - hospital, the
Fort Roots facilities for treatment have been vastly en-
larged and improved. Fort Roots has grown until now it
is one of the largest neuropsychiatric hospitals in the .
United States. It consists of 1,110 acres of land with 15

- large ward buildings and 76 other structures. It might -
be said that it is 'a community within itself, for it main-
tains its own police and fire department, shops, dining -
"halls, recreational buildings, libraries and other educa-
tional facilities.: : '

Despite the drastic changes which have occurred in the
hospital's physical plant during the last half century,
Fort Roots still retains many remnants of its military
past. The 11 acre parade grounds in the center of the

post along with several brick buildings built around the
turn of the century are continual remlnders of the hos-'
pital's military history. The archltectural uniformity of,
an unadorned military style sets the orlglnal post apart :
from later medical buildings.: "SLlS ‘representative

of the architectural style of a/ 1ate119ﬁh)century Amerlcan
mllltary post.
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PLEASE RETURN THIS FORM WIEN THE PROPERTY IS
NAME OF PROPERTY

7'26'77

DATE :

RESUBMITTED.

The attached National Register Inventory-Nomination form is being returned to your
office for clarification of the information indicated below.

11,

Sy -

Name.

Location.

Classification.

Owner of Property.

Location of Legal Description.

Representation in Existing Surveys.

Bibliography.

Geographicaf Data.

a. Longitude and Latitude Coordinates. -

b. Acreage.

Form Prepared By.

Certification.

Map Coverage.

Please use a map bearing an identified system of coordinates,
preferably an original USGS, which allows us to check latitude-longitude.

x Other.

Clarification or correctio
of our professional review.
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of the above items fust be made prior to the in1tiat101
Correction of these technical errors does not

nccessarily insure that the nomination will then satisfy the National Register
criteria in full.

Thank you for your attention to the above items checked. m'ks)
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Washington, D. C. 20240
Dear Mr. Herrington:

Thank you for your memorandum of July 26, 1974, concerning the
National Register nomination of Fort Logan H. Roots Military
Post. Our response to your questions and comments are listed
below:

1. Number of buildings in proposed nomination - 28

2. Alterations to buildings?
Please see section 7, page 3, paragraph 1, sentence
4; and section 7, final paragraph. We feel that
these two sentences explain the minimal alterations
to the buildings.

3. '"What happened to the hotel originally on the site?"
Unfortunately, we do not have nor are we able to
obtain this information. It is assumed that the
hotel was torn down prior to the beginning of con-
struction of Fort Roots. To help clarify this
point, the following sentence has been added to
section 8, paragraph 3:

"Military structures replaced the hotel.

4., "Architectural significance is not supported in
this section."
We are in agreement on this point and have added a
brief statement of the architectural significance
of the post to the final paragraph of section 8.

5. "The medical significance should be expanded as well."
We disagree. Fort Roots is being nominated for its
significance as a late nineteenth century military
post, and not as a twentieth century medical facility.
We feel the original statements on Fort Roots'medical
services are sufficient (section 8, page 6, paragraphs
2, 3, and 4).



Mr. Charles Herrington
August 19, 1974
Page 2

6. "More photos of proposed district needed - barracks
building among others."
We were under the erroneous impression that a maximum
of three photographs was allowed with each nomination;
however, this misunderstanding is now corrected. We
are most happy to provide additional photographs of
Fort Roots. In the future we will supply ample photo-
graphs with each nomination.

7. "District boundaries appear to cut through buildings."
In our originally submitted boundary map, this was
indeed the case. However, we have carefully studied
the instructions on drawing boundaries, and have
corrected our mistake. The original boundaries did
cut through buildings because the boundaries met at
right angles. The boundaries are now corrected.

8. "Please provide site plan."
This is now enclosed.

9. '"Wwhy is anly part of the fort in the proposed district?"
Only the original and early military structures are
included in the nomination. Buildings constructed
during the fort's era as a medical facility are not
included in the nomination. The military post struc-
tures are all located on one part of the grounds and
are easlily recognizable as a separate unit. However,
it was necessary to include some intrusions into the
boundary because of the difficulty of defining the
boundary without so doing.

10. "A verbal description of the boundaries would be
helpful.."

This has been added at the end of section 7.

We appreciate having your detailed critique of this nomination,
and only regret that we did not receive it sooner. Your
suggestions will aid us in future preparation of National
Register nominations.

Please telephone us if you have any further questions or comments
concerning this or other nominations. There is a great deal of
local interest in Fort Roots, and we hope to be able to announce
its addition to the National Register as soon as possible. Thank
you for your continued assistance.

Sincerely,

Qecre. Kok

Dianna Kirk
Historian
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Fort Logan H. Roots is located on a high promontory fac-
ing due south overlooking the Arkansas River. From its
original inception it was intended as a regional military
training facility which accounts for the physical layout
of the post. The focal point of the grounds is an eleven
acre quasi-elliptical parade and training field around
which the edifices of the post are located. True to mili-
tary custom there is a systematic location of quarters
with the officers' quarters located on the southwest rim
of the ellipse, the senior enlisted men located on the
southeast rim, and the enlisted barracks situated on and
due north of the centrally located parade field. Service
facilities such as the stables, firehouse, quartermaster's
building, shops, bakery and guardhouse are located north-
east of the rim along the principal ascending approach to
the post.

The construction of the post was essentially of two phases.
The original construction of 1896 included the aforemen-
tioned edifices. Subsequent additions in the years 1905-
1907 included two groups of enlisted barracks astride

the existing enlisted quarters. A bachelor officers'
guarters adjacent to the original officers' quarters was
added as well as a post exchange and gym aside the en-
listed quarters. These phases of construction completed
the orderly development of the post prior to its redesig-
nation as a Veterans Bureau health facility in 1921.
Subsequent to that time approximately fifty additional
buildings have been constructed to support the hospital
facility, and their growth has been to the rear of and
along a northwest axis from the enlisted quarters on the
north rim of the parade grounds.

The architectural character of the original and succeed-
ing buildings is in keeping with the military architecture
of the times. The edifices are utilitarian in construc-
tion, .and with few notable exceptions they are devoid of
ornamentation.

Solid red brick masonry walls prevail throughout with
trussed slate roofs of gable or cross-gable configura-
tion. Windows are slender, double hung with segmented
arches of brick and projecting cast stone sills.
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7. Description (Continued - Page 2)

Of special note is the original enlisted barracks build-
ing. It consists of a three story brick building with
square plan and a high hipped slate roof with a center
gable on the front and rear elevations. Extending off
two sides of the central edifice are the elongated two
and one-half story barracks proper. Single chimneys are
located at each end and are noteworthy in appearance.

The chimney pierces the cornice; however, it does not
continue to the ground. The chimney side is divided into
five alternating panels and projecting reliefs which ter-
minate at the second floor line.

The pediment is distinguished by a fascia which terminates
at each edge of the roof into a quasi-pendant of stone
resembling a barber's stand. The gable facade is given
relief by the use of recessed panels in the brickwork
which are flush with the face of the lower stories. A

two story porch is continuous along the entire front. The
upper porch has been enclosed since the original construc-
tion.

The officers'quarters represent a slight departure from
the architecture of the post. Each edifice is a two and
one-half story duplex of red brick resting on a rubblework
foundation which projects approximately four feet above
grade. A one story porch extends across one-fourth the
facade from each side. It terminates at the projecting
parlor rooms fronting the edifice. A later alteration
extended the porches across the entire facade.

The double hung windows with brick segmented arches and
cast stone sills are consistent with the prevailing motif;
however, the windows located in the pediments are note-
worthy. Two double hung windows with semicircular overhead
lights are separated by a brick mullion. Three course
brick, semicircular arches over each window intersect over
the brick mullion. Each course projects further outward
than the lower course, thereby giving depth to the arch.
This architectural feature appears only in the officers'
quarters.
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Briefly summarized the architecture of Fort Roots is bas=
sically plain and utilitarian in character. A consistent
motif lends unity to the original buildings. Overall order
to the plan is achieved through the systematic grouping of
the buildings about a centrally located parade field. Most
exterior alterations have been confined to the officers'
quarters in the forms of enclosure and extension of porches
and modification of some window casements.

It would indeed be difficult to define a single style of
architecture for Fort Roots. Elements of Romanesque Re-
vival are evident in the officers'quarters, while elements
of the Greek Revival .style predominate in several of the
larger structures. One of the best examples of the Greek
Revival style on the post is exhibited in the portico of
the post exchange and gymnasium.

Periodic maintenance has kept the original buildings in
good condition and has contributed to the exceptional
preservation of the original physical appearance of Fort
Roots.

The boundaries of the area are defined by West Drive on

the west, Scenic Drive on the southwest/)/ Main Circle Drive
on the south, East Drive on the isoutheast running to the
northeast and turning northwest to Hill Rdag, tHen turning
southwest along Hill Road to its. junctipen, with Flrst Street.
The boundary continues north along First Street to. a peint
beyond Building 15 (the old Powdeér Magazlne), then turning
southwest until intercepting North Drive which defines the
north boundary of the Ft. Roots historic district. Twenty-
eight buildings are included in the district.

GPO 921-724
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Established in 1893 as an Army post, historic Fort
Roots is situated on Big Rock Mountain on the north
bank of the Arkansas River. This six hundred (600')
foot high promontory was so named to distinguish it
from the Little Rock, located just across the river.
Big Rock Mountain is topped by a plateau on which this
19th century military post was built.

In 1887 Big Rock Mountain was acquired by the Mountain
Park Cottage Site and Improvement Company. This Little
Rock land company built the Mountain Park Hotel, a
luxurious resort hotel which operated from 1888 until
1893. Several special features that were somewhat
unusual for the time were offered. These included
three parks with picnic area, pavilions for dancing

and refreshments and a fruit orchard and vineyards.

The company had plans to sell sites for summer cottages
near the hotel, and to make the place an outstanding
resort. However, their ambitions for the Mountain Park
were never realized, for in 1893 the property was sold
to the United States Government as the site for a per-
manent Army post. Military structures replaced the hotel.

The history of Fort Roots began early in 1890 when
General John Schofield, of the War Department in
Washington, suggested that the Army close the hundreds
of small posts and arsenals in the United States and
establish a dozen major military posts situated near
the railroads. This would facilitate quick deploy-
ment of troops to any point in the country.

In August, 1890, work came from Washington that the
Arsenal at Little Rock was to be closed not later

than October 1, 1890. Then began a series of meetings
by the City leaders to decide what should be done with




[Arkansas Gazette, Maybéi, June 6, 28, 1893; July 31, 19603 March

Ley IFI2.
The Hill Echos (Veterans Administration Hospital, North Little
Rock), April-July, 1965; May, 1970.

Reynolds, Clifford P., ed. Biographical Directory of the American

Congress, 1774-1961. Washington, D. C.: Government
Printing Office, 1962.
Veterans Administration Hospital (North Little Rock, Arkansas).

Unpublished correspondence, '‘documents, and manuscripts,
1893-1973.
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'8%*'Significance (Continued - Page 2)

the property. During these meetings it was also decided
that Little Rock would ask that one of the twelve Army
posts be established in the area.

Arkansas' Senator James K. Jones and Congressman William
L. Terry started the movement in Washington. Congress

was asked to establish a military installation at Little
Rock on land provided by the city. In exchange the city
was to receive the old Arsenal grounds. On December 15,
1891, Senator Jones introduced a bill donating the grounds
to the city for a park. Congress also passed a bill to
establish a military post at Little Rock, provided the
city would furnish 1,000 acres of land within ten miles

of the city.

The Board of Improvement for City Park District was formed
to select a suitable site for the proposed fortress. Col-
onel Logan H. Roots served as chairman of the commission
with Judge Eben W. Kimbell as secretary. Several sites
were proposed by the Board of Improvement in the area
around Little Rock.

Major General Nelson A. Miles of the Commanding Department
of the Missouri was authorized to inspect the proposed
sites and select the one best suited for a military post.
In February, 1893, General Miles selected Big Rock Moun-
tain as the site of Fort Roots. The Big Rock site had
1,100 acres andincluded the plateau, providing a command-
ing view of the city and surrounding countryside.

Deeds were recorded at Little Rock to transfer the Arsenal
property to the city, and Big Rock property to the Army.
These were filed by Maj. Steven W. Groesbeck, Judge

Advocate of the Army, who arrived on March 18, 1893. Rights

were reserved for a public highway and a railroad along
the foot of the bluff.

In August, 1894, Congress appropriated $194,760 to con-
struct the military post at Big Rock. The appropriation
included $117,500 for construction; $6,460 for regular
supplies; and $70,800 for transporting the Army to the
post. Congressman W. L. Terry notified Little Rock that

GPO 921.724
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8. Significance (Continued - Page 3)

the Quartermaster General had authorized the money to be
spent, and Captain R. R. Stevens was placed in charge of
the work. On August 23, he received orders to advertise
for bids on the work.

Plans for the mountain fortress included a hospital, quar-
termaster stable, storehouse, guardhouse, three double sets
of officers' quarters, a double barracks, two mess halls
and one double outbuilding. Frederick Kepler of Chicago
submitted the successful bid for construction on the build-
ings. He agreed to complete the job in twelve months for
the sum of $107,746.00. On the morning of December 3,
1894, a 44-gun salute was fired from the highest point of
Big Rock to signal the beginning of work on the new fort.
Thomas Lafferty stuck the first pick in the ground and 25
men began work on the post road. Grading of the area be-
gan on December 10, and a full force of men were working
by the first of the new year. The Army was thus installed
on the prominence of Big Rock.

By 1896 twenty buildings had been completed. These in-
cluded barracks, kitchens, mess halls, lavatories, a guard
house, a bakery, a store house, stables, officers' quarters,
a hospital and a powder magazine. Most of these structures
were centered around a parade grounds of 11.7 acres.

In April of 1897, an order from the War Department was
published as follows:

By direction of the President of the United States,
the military post near the city of Little Rock, in
Pulaski County, Arkansas, will hereafter be known
and designated as Fort Logan H. Roots in honor of
the Late Brevet Lieutenant Colonel L. H. Roots,
United States Volunteers.

Logan Holt Roots was born on March 26, 1841, on an Illinois
farm. At 17 he entered Illinois State Normal University

as the youngest male student. After graduating as valedic-
torian in the class of 1862, he enlisted in the Union Army
and was made an officer in the 8lst Regiment Illinois
Volunteers.

GPO 921.724



Form<10-300a ; UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STATE

Aduly 12562 L{ 72 NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Arkansas
" peecr(] NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES [coUnNTY
i, INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM Eulasicl
FOR NPS USE ONLY
ENTRY NUMBER DATE

(Continuation Sheet)

SEP 41 974 |

During his military career Colonel Roots participated in
the seige of Vicksburg and accompanied General William T.
Sherman on his march through Georgia to the sea. As a
staff officer of General Sherman, he was present at the
Grand Review of the troops by the President in May, 1865.
The following August, Roots was commissioned Brevet
ILieutenant Colonel for his meritorius services during the
war. Colonel Roots was honorably mustered out of the
service on May 31, 1866. During his last year of military
service Colonel Roots was stationed in Arkansas. After
buying a cotton plantation, he remained in the State to
make it his home.

In 1867 Colonel Roots was appointed Collector of Internal
Revenue for the First District of Arkansas. As a progres-
sive liberal Republican, he represented Arkansas in the
Fortieth Congress as its youngest member. During his two
terms in Congress he sponsored several bills of great
importance and beneficience to his constituents. 1In later
years the Colonel served as Vice-President of the National
League of Republican Clubs.

At the time of his death in 1893 Logan Roots was recognized
as the wealthiest man and leading financier in Arkansas.

His financial success was tied cclosely to the First National
Bank, of which he served as both president and director.

One contemporary source stated that '"his ability and repu-
tation made this bank unexcelled and unquestionably the
leading bank of this section of the country." Colonel

Roots also served as the first president of the Arkansas
State Banker's Association.

When Little Rock sought to acquire a permanent military
post in the early 1890's the citizens turned to Colonel
Roots to represent their wishes in Washington. As Chair-
man of the Board of Improvement for City Park District,
Roots was instrumental in securing the Big Rock Mountain
site to house the proposed fort. According to the Arkansas
Gazette of May, 1893, "to his influence with the powers
then in being at Washington in a great measure was due the
fact that Little Rock secured the Arsenal Park and the new
military post."

GPO 921.724
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8. Significance (Continued - Page 5)

Though Colonel Roots died on May 30, 1893, long before the
Big Rock fortress became a real@ity , it was his efforts

that secured the site and future post. Four years after

his death his work in behalf of his adopted city was publicly
recognized when the Big Rock post was designated Fort Logan
H. Roots.

Construction of the fort proceeded according to schedule
until the outbreak of the Spanish-American War in 1898.
Operations were stopped when the regiment of troops occupying
the post were ordered to Puerto Rico. In the following
months the President called for 1,600 troops from Arkansas

to serve in the war against Spain. Many regiments arrived

at Fort Roots, received training in military maneuvers,

and were shipped on to other places of service.

The next period of intense activity for the Fort Roots
garrison came in February of 1912 when the base commander
received notice to have his troops ready to move to the
Mexican border. Francisco ("Pancho™) Villa, the Mexican
revolutionary leader, was causing international tensions
to mount. In March, 1914, four companies of the Ninth
Infantry departed for duty at Laredo, Texas. Two years
later 25 companies of the Arkansas National Guard were
mobilized. After spendingamonth at Fort Roots this group
was ordered to Deming, New Mexico.

In early 1917, the European war far overshadowed the trou-
bles on the southern border. In April mebilization of the
first Arkansas Infantry was begun, and a few days later
orders were issued to establish an officers' training camp
at Fort Roots. After spending a 90-day training period at
the fort, graduates were commissioned as company officers
for the 87th Army Division.

Men of the Second Arkansas Infantry were trained at the
fort, and were reorganized into the 142nd Field Artillery
in the autumn of 1917. While in training, the men dug
up quite a supply of stones from the field. These stones
were used to construct a permanent monument in memory of
the conversion of the Second Arkansas Infantry into the

142nd Field Artillery. The monument still stands at Fort
Roots.
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During the time Fort Roots was used as an officers'training
school, First Lieutenant George C. Marshall served at the
fort. This young officer later achieved the rank of Gen-
eral, served as Chief of Staff, and was Secretary of State.

Near the end of World War I Fort Roots was used an an

Army hospital. With the cessation of hostilities the need
for a military post was no longer justifiable; therefore,
the Army turned the grounds and buildings over to the Public
Health Service for use as a hospital.

In October of 1921, the Fort Roots Military Post was re-
leased to the Veterans Bureau by the Public Health Service.
On December 1, 1921, the Veterans Bureau reopened Fort
Roots as a neuropsychiatric treatment center for veterans.
At that time the hospital center consisted of a group of
permanent barracks type buildings surrounding a large
parade ground.

During its 50 year history as a veterans hospital, the
Fort Roots facilities for treatment have been vastly en-
larged and improved. Fort Roots has grown until now it

is one of the largest neuropsychiatric hospitals in the
United States. It consists of 1,110 acres of land with 15.
large ward buildings and 76 other structures. It might

be said that it is a community within itself, for it main-
tains its own police and fire department, shops, dining
halls, recreational buildings, libraries and other educa-
tional facilities.

Despite the drastic changes which have occurred in the
hospital's physical plant during the last half century,
Fort Roots still retains many remnants of its military
past. The 11 acre parade grounds in the center of the
post along with several brick buildings built around the
turn of the century are continual reminders of the hos-
pital's military history. The architectural uniformity of
an unadorned military style sets thé ondgl al post apart
from later medical buildings. F@rt ﬁbbﬁ%L{s eRpresentative

of the architectural style of aft lateththj aptu Y American
military post.
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Mrs. Marie Benyo (138)

c/o Veterans Administration Hospital
Senic Hill Drive

North Little Rock, AR

Dear Mrs. Benyo:

We are happy to inform you that the State Review Committee
of the Arkansas Historic Preservation Program has approved
the nomination of Fort Logan H. Roots to the National Reg-
ister of Historic Places. The nomination will now be
forwarded to the National Register office in Washington,
D. C. where it will be evaluated by their professional
staff. If they concur with the judgment of the State Re-

view Committee it will soon be included on the National
Register.

We appreciate your assistance in preparing this nomination
and your interest in historic preservation.

Sincerely,

eree i S

Gene Rlchardson, Administrator
Arkansas Historic Preservation Program’

GR/m



VETERANS ADMINISTRATION

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE AND SURGERY

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20420

July 5, 1974
¥ scoxn 1o TABAS

Dr, William J. Murtagh (H 34-PH)

Keeper of the National Register

National Park Service 3
Department of the Interior ¢
Washington, D. C. 20240

Dear Dr. Murtagh:
Enclosed please find National Register nomination forms for Fort Logan
Roots, located at the Veterans Administration Hospital, North Little

Rock, Arkansas.

We look forward to seeing this property added to the National Register
of Historic Places.

Sincerely,

Enclosures

2 T?’W\
APPROVED: xf?.SL n{kzvv4;1LL:\\ N =g 'rv.\a

R. E. LINDSEY, JR.
Director, Engineering Service

Show veteran's full name, VA file number, and social security number on all correspondence.
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138a
Hospital Dirvector (00)

VA Hospital
Little Rock, Arkansas 72206

SUBJ: MNominations for National Register of Historic Places

1. 7The site of Ft. Root appears to meet the eriteria for nominatien
for listing in the National Regieter of Historic Places.

2. Plesse consult with the State Liaison Officer for Historic Pres-
ervation for Arkansas to determine whether his office will endorse

a formal nomination for listing in the National Register. If his
office concurs, please complete the enclosed nomination forms in
co-operation with the State Lialson Qificer.

3. The address of the State Liaison Officer and instructions for
completion of the nomination forms will be found in VA Circulav
00-72-23, dated October 2, 1972.

4. Enclosed for your convenience are cepies of the following Natiomal
Park Service forms:

Form 10-300 Homination Form for Federal Properties
Form 10-300a Homipnation Form - Continuation Sheet

Form 10-301 liomination Form - Property Map Form

Form 10-30la Nomination Form - Property Photograph Form

5. ‘These forms should be prepared in quintuplicate and endorsed by
the State Ligison Officer. Cne copy is for retention at your station.
The remaining four copies are to be returned to the Regional Medical
pirector (1384). i

B, M. WHITTINGTON, M.D.
_Regional Medical Director '

Enclosures




ENTRIES IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

STATE AREANSAS

Date Entered SEP 4 B4

Name Location
Fort Logan H, Roots Military Post North Little Rock
Pulaski County

Also Notified

Hon. John L. MeClellan State ilistoric Preservation Officer
Hom. J. W. Fulbright Mr. Willism E. Henderson
Hona, Wilbur D, Mills Director
Ms. Gjore Mollenjoff, Veterans Arkansas Dept. of Parks and
Adwinistration Tourism
Regional Director, Southwest State Capitol - Room 149
S osion Little Rock, Arkansas 72201

lPR MMott/row 9/5/74



10 Jefferson Davis Avenue
Plaistow, New Hampshire
December 27,197L

Ernest A Connaly Director

National Register of Historic Places

National Park Service, U.S.Dept of the Interior
Washington, D,C.

Dear Mr, Connally:

A few of us are very proud of the great work being done by
NPS in augmenting the National Register, limited though its powers
be to defend our heritage against the erosion of greed and time., The
Federal Register is our means for watching the growth of the Register,
endlessly seeking to find listed one by one the treasures of which the
nation should be proud. In no sense is the present suggestion intended
as a criticism, but is sent with the thought that subsequent publication
may correct a small error that has crept in.

Iong ago public works were recorded by men having clear and
distinet personal knowledge of men and events of their own day or of
the then recent past. Some ofthem, even then, had a vision of the
long historic vista stretching through the years to follow, and the
mterial they preserved is now the mines being dug over by countless
bearded beatniks seeking a degree or a book for publication, From time
to time one of them gets inspiration, most often from one of us out in
the oountry who has not the prestige to communicate diectly with tke
forces building the National Register, and an entry gets through the
sifting requir ed by law and an error is printed. Since the Register
will becomg afterour time, the authoritative source for all time to
come, we have an obligation to record the very best that can be found.

Federal Register Sept 3,197L page 31933 proposes registering of
a Fort which was shown on the Land Grant RR map of US in War Department
General Order 140, August 44,1899 as "Fort Logan H., Roots", Entry under
North Little Rock, Pulaski County, Arkansas does not read the same as
the designation published by men then very familiar with the site and
of the great man whose name was distinguished by association with the
Post, Since the designation on the Register has not been confirmed yet,
isn't there time for a quick search in War Department records affirming
the name "Logan H. Roots”and the correction of Sept. 3 notice?

If it is possible, may I have a copy of the historic justification
of this Registry, as I am very much interested in old military posts
and the preservation of their distinguished past., It is next to
impossible to visit the seat of Covernment to appear in person with a
request for information, but any cost of reproduction would be cheerfully
forwarded, Thank you for your attention, and I am

Cordially yours,
Ty Pl
WILBAR M HOXIE,
Lt. Col. USAR
Chairman, History & Heritage Committee
ASCE New England Council
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September 5, 1978

Miss Gjore Mollenhoff

Federal Agency Representative
Veterans Administration
0ffice of Construction
Washington, D. C. 20420

Dear Miss Mollenhoff:

On August 21, 1978, the Counell received a determination from the
Veterans Administration that acquisition of 24+ acres of land for new
construction and expansion of new parking facilities at North Little

Rock Hospital, North Little Rock, Arkansas, would not adversely affect
Fort Logan Roots Historiec Distriet, a property included in the National
Register of Historic Places. We have reviewed the documentation sub-
mitted with your letter and discussed the proposal with the Arkansas
State Historic Preservation Officer. Based on our review and discussions,
the Executive Director does not object to your determimation as applicable
to the proposed acquisition. Further, we look forward to working with VA
in accordance with the Procedures with respect to subsequent development
activities on this property as appropriate in the future.

A copy of your determination of no adverse effect, along with supporting
documentation and this concurrence, should be included in any assessment
or statement prepared for this undertaking in compliance with the
Hational Environmental Policy Aect and should be kept in your records as
evidence of your compliance with Section 106 of the National Historie
Preservation Act of 1966 (16 U.S5.C. 470f, as amended, 90 Stat. 1320).

Your continued cooperation 1s appreciated.

S8incerely yours,

s

OF, sl
S ¥

Louis S. Wall
Assistant Director, Office of
Review and Compliance, Denver

cc: Chairman
SHPO :AK
HCRS :NR
ORC:JKing
FILE:?KﬁFORT LOGAN ROOTS H.D./106/VA/Construct parking facilities
JK 9/5/78



